The Resilience Hub approach for addressing mental health of health and social care workers during the COVID-19 pandemic: a mixedmethods evaluation

Filippo Varese,^{1,2*} Kate Allsopp,^{1,2} Lesley-Anne Carter,¹ Gemma Shields,¹ Daniel Hind,³ Linda Davies,¹ Alan Barrett,^{4,5} Gita Bhutani,^{1,6} Katherine McGuirk,⁷ Fay Huntley,⁸ Joanne Jordan,⁹ Aleix Rowlandson,¹ May Sarsam,⁸ Hein Ten Cate,⁶ Holly Walker,⁹ Ruth Watson,² Jack Wilkinson,¹ Jenni Willbourn⁴ and Paul French^{10,11}

- ¹Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health, University of Manchester, School of Health Sciences, Manchester Academic Health Science Centre, Manchester, UK
- ²Greater Manchester Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust, Manchester Academic Health Science Centre, Research and Innovation, Manchester, UK
- ³University of Sheffield, School of Health and Related Research, Sheffield, UK
- ⁴Greater Manchester Resilience Hub, Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust, Lancashire, UK
- ⁵University of Salford, School of Health and Society, Salford, UK
- ⁶Lancashire and South Cumbria Resilience Hub, Lancashire and South Cumbria NHS Foundation Trust, Preston, UK
- ⁷Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership, Manchester, UK
- $^{\rm 8}{\rm Cheshire}$ and Merseyside Resilience Hub, Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust, Prescot, UK
- ⁹Humber and North Yorkshire Resilience Hub, Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust, West Park Hospital, Darlington, UK
- ¹⁰Faculty of Health, Psychology and Social Care, Manchester Metropolitan University, Manchester, UK
- ¹¹Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust, Lancashire, UK

*Corresponding author filippo.varese@manchester.ac.uk

Published September 2024 DOI: 10.3310/HGQR5133

Plain language summary

The Resilience Hub approach for addressing mental health of health and social care workers during the COVID-19 pandemic: a mixed-methods evaluation

Health and Social Care Delivery Research 2024; Vol. 12: No. 29 DOI: 10.3310/HGQR5133

NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

Plain language summary

Many health and social care staff struggled with mental health difficulties during the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic. The study evaluated new National Health Service services ('Resilience Hubs') that were set up to help these keyworkers.

We worked with four Hubs to: (1) look at who accessed the Hubs and what difficulties they had; (2) ask Hub 'clients' which support they used, and how helpful they found the Hubs; (3) look at what resources are needed to run the Hubs, to understand their 'value for money'; (4) interview people who worked with or used the Hubs (e.g. Hub staff, Hub clients, but also keyworkers who did not use the Hubs) to have their feedback. We used this information to make recommendations for the Hubs and the organisations that work with them.

We found that Hub clients were mainly National Health Service staff. Many had several mental health difficulties, including anxiety, depression and post-traumatic stress disorder. Few men, staff from minority ethnic communities, care home workers and emergency service staff used the Hubs. People were generally happy with the support they had from the Hubs; clients who completed a follow-up questionnaire rated the helpfulness of support provided by Hubs as 92 out of 100 on average. Staffing was the main cost, as Hubs were mainly staffed by experienced clinicians. Things that made it easier for people to use the Hubs were clear understandings of Hub support and how to access it, and the support of their managers/employers. Some keyworkers from minority ethnic communities wanted greater diversity in the Hub teams. Some had concerns around waiting times and about not knowing enough about how well these services worked. Feedback was otherwise very positive.

Our recommendations included how to: better promote the Hubs; improve inclusion of and support for individuals from minority groups; get better data on how well and for whom they work; and for employers to pay more attention to the mental health and well-being of keyworkers beyond the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic.

Health and Social Care Delivery Research

ISSN 2755-0079 (Online)

A list of Journals Library editors can be found on the NIHR Journals Library website

Health and Social Care Delivery Research (HSDR) was launched in 2013 and is indexed by Europe PMC, DOAJ, INAHTA, Ulrichsweb[™] (ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, USA), NCBI Bookshelf, Scopus and MEDLINE.

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

This journal was previously published as *Health Services and Delivery Research* (Volumes 1–9); ISSN 2050-4349 (print), ISSN 2050-4357 (online)

The full HSDR archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/hsdr.

Criteria for inclusion in the Health and Social Care Delivery Research journal

Manuscripts are published in *Health and Social Care Delivery Research* (HSDR) if (1) they have resulted from work for the HSDR programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

HSDR programme

The HSDR programme funds research to produce evidence to impact on the quality, accessibility and organisation of health and social care services. This includes evaluations of how the NHS and social care might improve delivery of services.

For more information about the HSDR programme please visit the website at https://www.nihr.ac.uk/explore-nihr/funding-programmes/health-and-social-care-delivery-research.htm

This article

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by the HSDR programme or one of its preceding programmes as award number NIHR132269. The contractual start date was in October 2020. The draft manuscript began editorial review in June 2022 and was accepted for publication in March 2023. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The HSDR editors and production house have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' manuscript and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the draft document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this article.

This article presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR). The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, the HSDR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, these of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, the HSDR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care.

This article was published based on current knowledge at the time and date of publication. NIHR is committed to being inclusive and will continually monitor best practice and guidance in relation to terminology and language to ensure that we remain relevant to our stakeholders.

Copyright © 2024 Varese *et al.* This work was produced by Varese *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This is an Open Access publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, reproduction and adaptation in any medium and for any purpose provided that it is properly attributed. See: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. For attribution the title, original author(s), the publication source – NIHR Journals Library, and the DOI of the publication must be cited.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Newgen Digitalworks Pvt Ltd, Chennai, India (www.newgen.co).